
PARISH OF HYTHE AND DIBDEN

ANNUAL PARISH ASSEMBLY

NOTICE is given that the Annual Parish Meeting of the Parish of Hythe and 
Dibden will be held via Zoom on Wednesday, 7th April, 2021 at 7.00 pm.

Join Zoom Meeting
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84762756721?pwd=Z1VYWk9qYkN4MGxtMUoveTJyMVFpZz09 
Meeting ID: 847 6275 6721
Passcode: 889439
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kbaCexwQPy 

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. MINUTES 3 - 6
To sign the Minutes of the Annual Meeting held on 27th March 2019.
N.B. No meeting held in March 2020 due to pandemic.

3. ANNUAL REPORT 
To receive the Annual Report of the Parish Council from the Chairman.

4. ACCOUNTS CURRENT YEAR TO 31st MARCH 2021 
The financial year has just ended – 31st March 2021 and full year accounts are 
currently under preparation. Interim audit just undertaken highlighted no issues 
of great concern. Spend versus budget so far is in line with expectations albeit 
income reduced due to pandemic.

5. DISTRICT COUNCILLOR REPORTS 7 - 22
To receive brief written reports from the District Councillors on matters relating 
to the Parish.

6. COUNTY COUNCILLOR REPORTS 23 - 26
To receive brief written reports from the County Councillors on matters relating 
to the Parish.

7. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
To discuss questions arising from the reports, or to receive any questions from 
members of the public on matters relating to the Parish.

The awards normally presented will take place later in the year at another meeting

Cllr Malcolm Wade
Chairman of the Council

24 March 2021

Public Document Pack

Page 1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84762756721?pwd=Z1VYWk9qYkN4MGxtMUoveTJyMVFpZz09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kbaCexwQPy
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kbaCexwQPy


Page 2



1

Minutes of the Annual Parish Meeting

Held at The Council Chamber, The Grove, 25 St John's Street, Hythe.  SO45 6BZ 
on Wednesday, 27th March, 2019 at 6.00 pm

Councillors Councillors
Mr P Armstrong
Mr J Binns
Mr E Davey
Mrs J Fowler
Mr C Harrison
Mrs M McLean

Mr G Parkes
Mr D Poole
Mr M Short
Mr A Wade
Mr M Wade
Cllr B Andrews

Apologies: Councillors Mr M Clark, Mr T Johnson and Cllr A McEvoy
Cllr K Crisell

Absent: Cllr B Thorne

Officers in Attendance
Stephanie Bennett, Clerk to the Council
Claire Donnelly, Minute Clerk

60 Members of the Public

1 AWARDS 

Community Spirit Award

The Chairman of the Council presented the Community Spirit Award for 2019 to 
the Waterside Cancer Support Centre in recognition of their significant 
contribution to the community through their work supporting people living with or 
affected by cancer. They were presented with a shield, certificate and a £20 gift 
card. 

A runners up certificate was awarded to Iris Read for her dedication and long 
service as the voluntary secretary and co-ordinator of the Hythe and District 
Voluntary Car Group.

A Special Award certificate was presented to the Hythe and Waterside Poppy 
Ladies for their incredible efforts to create displays of knitted and crocheted 
poppies to commemorate the centenary of the end of the First World War. The 
Chairman informed the group that the council has granted them free use of the 
Council Chamber or Parish Hall to assist in their activities, in consultation with 
the Clerk, and a sum of £100 is set aside to help fund their next project.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Minutes of the Annual Parish Meeting 2 Wednesday, 27 March 2019

Environmental Champion Award

Teresa Scott won the Environmental Champion Award 2019 for her wonderful 
efforts to decorate Hythe and Waterside with crafted poppies of recycled 
materials to mark the centenary of the end of the First World War. Teresa will 
receive a trophy, certificate and £20 gift card.

A runners up certificate was awarded to Roger King for his continued and 
consistent litter picking in the Dibden and Applemore area.

Young Person’s Endeavour Award

The Chairman of the Council presented the Young Person’s Endeavour Award 
for 2019 to Georgina Woodley in recognition of her voluntary work as a Youth 
Worker, leading the young people at Hythe Youth Club. Georgina was presented 
with a shield, certificate and a £20 gift card.   

2 MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Annual Parish Meeting held on 21st March 2018, having been 
circulated, were signed by the Chairman.

3 ANNUAL REPORT 

The Chairman presented the Annual Report of the Council. The Chairman 
advised that the report had been placed on the website and was available to pick 
up in the Library.

4 ACCOUNTS - PREVIOUS YEAR 

The Clerk reported that the council’s accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018 
had been audited as correct and were available, by appointment, for inspection. 

5 ACCOUNTS CURRENT YEAR 

The clerk reported on the Council’s accounts for the year ending 31 March 2019.

6 DISTRICT COUNCILLOR REPORTS 

The Chairman presented the reports of the District Councillors, where were in 
printed form.

7 COUNTY COUNCILLOR REPORTS 

The Chairman presented the reports of the County Councillors, which were in 
printed form.

8 QUESTIONS 

There were no questions arising from the reports.

Page 4



Minutes of the Annual Parish Meeting 3 Wednesday, 27 March 2019

9 RESOLUTIONS 

No resolutions had been received. 

The Meeting closed at 6.25 pm

Chairman

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Mark Clark - Furzedown & Hardley
District Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

District Councillor Community Grants 

I have made my District Councillor Community Grants based on need around the Covid pandemic. 
Firstly of £200 to the Foodbank in Blackfield last year and earlier this year of two awards of £200 and 
£900 respectively to the Hythe Primary School and Waterside Primary School, to assist with devices 
for children who remained unable to access home-learning during the pandemic.  

Particularly over the last year, councillors have received many requests to provide financial help and it 
is always very difficult to choose between so many deserving causes. District councillors are very 
grateful to be in receipt of such funding, to help where we can, residents in need in our community.  

It was my feeling that not only locally disadvantaged children, but their families in turn, and our local 
school staff would be helped through these particular grants. Indeed, this feeling was shared by all 
district councillors serving Hythe & Dibden Parish who have each donated differing amounts to our 
schools across the parish this month.  

A Vision for The Waterside 

I attended the online ‘Waterside Conference’, presented by a now well-established working group of 
local councils, partnership organisations and private companies, working together to secure 
investment from central government for the development of infrastructure along the Waterside to 
support the large number of developments currently taking shape, or which are in their planning 
stages.  

The aim of the conference was to present a new document, which the group has produced, and which 
seeks to assist in leveraging this funding, called ‘A Vision for The Waterside’. The conference also 
provided an update on the group’s progress given the significant developments already in motion, 
from the likes of Fawley Waterside and Exxon Mobil’s new processing plant, to further plans in the 
pipeline from ABP and at Marchwood Military Port.  This will directly affect the well being of Hythe & 
Dibden for generations to come.

Task & Finish Groups

I have served on two specific Task & Finish Groups on the District Council in the last year.

The Electoral Review T&F Group reported to Full Council and our recommendations were sent to 
Electoral Commission. As you will be aware their proposal suggests that the Hardley patch now falls 
within a new DC warding arrangement for North Holbury/Hardley. This has been accepted by the 
Commission and new warding arrangements for 3 x 2 Member wards across Hythe & Dibden come 
into effect for the 2023 District Council elections with a reduced membership of 48 Councillors making 
up that Authority. 

I also served on the T&F Group looking at privatisation of the Districts five leisure centres including 
Applemore and fought very hard to retain them in house. Unfortunately, that battle was lost and the 
management of the centres moves into a private company Freedom Leisure in the next year. 

Case work

I have undertaken plenty of individual casework this year including road and verge damage by heavy 
lorries; pursuing financial grants towards funeral expenses, noise pollution, (un) neighbourly disputes, 
fence lines and the breaking of building regulations by companies. 

I look forward to what a more normal year might bring!

Cllr Mark Clark

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Rebecca Clark – Hythe West & Langdown 
District Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

My word. What a year this has been. A year in our parish that resembles no other in living history. The pandemic has 
brought great personal tragedy but also innumerable stories of human kindness, resilience and heroism. Our parish has 
certainly risen to the challenge. I feel very fortunate to be a resident of Hythe & Dibden Parish during this pandemic. 

As a District Councillor, our working practices have evolved significantly, and as a result, many timesaving and climate-
friendly practices have become embedded. I hope that New Forest District Council continues to embrace its reduction 
of avoidable travel, council resources and buildings, kick-started through necessity in lockdown. That being said, internet 
connectivity and digital poverty does still present barriers across the New Forest, even for those with devices, and so 
not everyone within our community has been able to live the fully virtual life required to gain the maximum access to the 
resources and assistance available. Here at home we have juggled and compromised over meetings, lessons and life 
commitments between us as a family; a situation I am sure is mirrored across the parish and beyond. 

District Councillors are now very used to engaging with officers to solve problems entirely remotely and are adept at 
online meetings, which everyone can now attend, regardless of childcare or other commitments that might make 
travelling to Lyndhurst challenging. These new arrangements also make it much easier for members of the community 
to view and take part in meetings, which I feel enhances greatly the quality of local democracy. I do hope similarly that 
NFDC will continue to make available this increased access, and that as a result, more residents will be able to consider 
becoming councillors, to improve community representation and diversity amongst our ranks. 

I have been able this year to contribute the whole of my District Councillor’s Community Grant, plus some remaining 
from last year, towards the purchase of laptops at Waterside and Hythe Primary Schools, since not all of their pupils 
were able to access online learning during lockdown, and there were insufficient funds to purchase additional devices. I 
hoped that this would not only help some of our most vulnerable young people in the parish, but also their families, and 
school communities and staff. My previous work as a school governor taught me what a crucial element in many 
children’s lives the mere routine and on-tap support of regular schooling provides. It also taught me the immense 
pressure experienced by school staff, in non-pandemic times, let alone in a long-term national emergency. So much of 
our community evolves around our school and community hubs and so I hope that these grants will have further 
supported their enormous efforts to continue to assist the children as they weather unprecedented and deeply 
challenging changes to their learning lives. Thank you to all our parish schools for all that they are doing, for our pupils, 
and in turn their families. Their resilience is outstanding. 

Work on the New Forest District Planning Committee, of which I am a member, has continued throughout the year 
remotely via Zoom, and now Teams, so it has been rewarding to be able to play a part in the planning decision of some 
very important applications recently, not least the Fawley Waterside development, bringing thousands more homes to 
the Waterside. At a time when the Waterside is due to see unprecedented growth and development, to be part of 
discussions on local council and partnership boards, as they formulate and commit to their ‘Vision for the Waterside’, 
has given myself and other Waterside councillors the opportunity to press not only for green and joined-up approaches 
to the multimodal transport that we frequently champion, but also to ensure we do all we can to ensure that local groups 
can be heard, and have their input incorporated. The Waterside will soon see a period of change like no other and so it 
is crucial that councillors work as hard as we can to ensure that these new developments bring added value to our 
communities, and address any concerns they may have. 

Despite the enormous successes achieved through the pandemic however, it has been an inescapably devastating 
experience for too many in our parish. Tragically, we have lost many of our own parishioners to Covid-19. The pandemic 
has hit hard, and very close to home. The human element of meeting people face-to-face, and being able to help and 
provide support in ways more than just remotely, is an all too painful casualty in all our lives, when we so desperately 
want to assist those we love, care for and represent. Nothing can replace the human contact which enables us to be 
best placed to communicate. My deepest sympathies to all those who are bereaved amongst us.  

My heart goes out to everyone this year, since everyone has struggled in some way during the past 12 months. I 
personally, prior to the pandemic, had been struggling with my own poor mental health, which has like so many other’s 
been exacerbated by the conditions we now found ourselves in. I have felt incredibly concerned personally that I have 
not been at my best as a councillor; in fact, my capacity has been severely impacted now for some time. Why do I 
mention this specifically? Because I think that it is important. One other thing to come out of this pandemic is that we 
have all had our lives simplified to some extent, to being restricted to seeking the simplest of pleasures: be it human 
contact, kindness, love, sympathy and empathy. 

Page 9



When I stood for election, I explained that I am a Mental Health Champion and I still feel that it is important that local 
government is filled with people who represent the community around them. I know that I am not alone in suffering mental 
health issues, so I feel that it is important that I am still here as your councillor. I have always suffered with depression 
but had previously been what is described as ‘high-functioning’, using all energies to seek to achieve perfection, whilst 
struggling silently, and in a way mostly unknown to others. Before the pandemic, a number of traumatic issues combined 
to affect my mental health to the extent that it evolved, and I was no longer able to manage it in the same way as I had 
grown to. 

The pandemic hitting has made recovery all the harder, as it has for so many others in our parish. The pandemic has 
also sadly brought to many the experience of mental health issues for the very first time. I really do hope that the 
pandemic will open the doors to greater openness and regularised conversation, respect and support around mental 
health, to equal those same conversations about physical health, as both can be equally debilitating and impactful both 
to individuals, families and our society. I explain my situation also to apologise to my electors that I have not been as 
capable as I had hoped over the past year. This is more painful to me than you would imagine. I am doing all I can to 
get better and beg your understanding. I do thank my colleagues for all their support. They have never once doubted 
me, even though I have doubted myself. Thank you to them for supporting me in my duties and assisting my recovery. 

As a Mental Health Champion, I want to encourage us all to never once give up hope, concern, kindness, or believing in 
the capabilities of someone struggling. Equally, we must remember to be kind to ourselves. Those struggling with their 
mental health need encouragement more than you may ever know, even though it may be hard for them to communicate 
outwards whilst they are at greatly diminished capacity. Keep checking in. They are busy doing what they need to, to 
survive and to get better. 

My difficulties are but nothing however against the difficulties experienced across our parish in this time of pandemic. As 
we are still largely apart, we maybe will not know for a while the full extent of the hardships our parish has born. I am 
sending my very best wishes to everyone across our beautiful parish. Thank you to all our heroes; there are so many of 
you out there, and I do reiterate that I would not have wished to live anywhere else throughout this pandemic. Quiet 
heroes really do live abundantly amongst us. 

For those of us who have merely concentrated on managing to put one step in front of the other, one day at a time, to 
just keep going, in the hope that this will be enough; thank you too. We share this community, and we will see out the 
pandemic as a community. We have all done our very best to get through an extraordinary situation. I do hope that we 
all will be feeling much stronger and safer soon, and that the coming year will afford us increasing opportunities to join 
together as a community once again.

Cllr R Clark

Page 10



Cllr Sandra Delemare - Dibden and Hythe East
District Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

 
During this difficult year I have been pleased to be able to make some small contribution 
towards helping fund organisations that help vulnerable people in the parish using my district 
council community grant allocation.              
Waterside Foodbank £500
Waterside Street Pastors £100 delivering shopping & prescriptions to people self- isolating
Families Matter               £300 supporting families
Orchard Infants School £700 for laptops for disadvantaged children
 
As with my colleagues, I have had to learn to attend meetings online and use different 
technology.

I have been impressed by how well officers and staff of NFDC have responded swiftly and 
effectively in the crisis and maintained essential services.

Cllr Sandra Delemare

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Philip Dowd – Dibden and Hythe East
District Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

As a District Councillor, there are Full Council meetings over the year to attend. Cabinet 
meetings run once a month during the day. As these are broadcast on YouTube I tend to 
watch via this platform. We have our own pre-Cabinet Briefing before the main Cabinet and 
I try to make this as it is a good opportunity to meet with Bob Jackson and the Senior New 
Forest District Officers to ask questions about the items in the Cabinet meeting, decisions 
made by Portfolio Holders and questions that have resulted from casework.
Every Councillor may attend other meetings and can elect to sit on various Committees, 
Task and Finish groups (working groups where a specific task is to be completed in a 
defined time), Working Groups and briefings. 

I was elected Vice-Chair of the Waste Strategy Working Group and, with Malcolm Wade, 
have worked hard to push for the inclusion of reducing and recycling at the heart of the 
strategy.
There are issues with how we collect waste and what waste is collected as part of a larger 
County strategy but this has been one of the major pieces of work the District Council has 
undertaken currently in an effort to improve its poor record.

I am not a member of the Health and Leisure Task and Finish Group but have had a keen 
interest and attended many of the meetings due to the impact the changes will have on our 
residents as customers and workers in the  leisure industry.
25/1/21 Health and Leisure briefing overview of the bid process and the features of the 
successful bid.

Although not a member of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Panel I have attended a 
number of meetings especially those that have included Waterside developments, 
infrastructure (A326) and multi-modal transport.
17/6/20 briefing on Fawley Development – design
24/6/20 briefing on Fawley Development- nature conservation
30/6/20 briefing on Fawley Development- transport
3/7/20 briefing on Fawley Development- other
13/8/20 Environment and infrastructure. Totton and Waterside plan £3bn private sector 
investment.
18/1/21 Totton & Waterside Conference Vision for the Waterside. Presentation of the High 
Level Development document.

Although not a member of the Electoral Review of the District Task and Finish Group or the 
Local Economy Task and Finish Group I have attended a number of meetings to ensure 
that I have a grasp of decisions that affect our area. We managed to influence the decision 
on electoral representation in Hythe and Dibden by putting up a detailed proposal that was 
voted through in Full Council.

The Greener Housing Task and Finish Group is a relatively new group concerned with more 
environmentally aware methods of developing housing responding to best practice and ever 
changing legislation. I am keen that improvements are not only seen in Local Authority 
housing but exemplars are used to inspire and educate all homeowners to make cost-
effective changes to improve the efficiency of their homes.
25/9/20 greener housing T&F group intro to National Planning Policy
18/12/20 greener housing T&F group Case Study Testwood Park
17/6/20 Housing Overview affordable housing, community housing 
4/2/21 affordable housing Richard Dixon presentation linking to Local Plan. 
24/2/21 greener housing T&F group 10 Year Plan. Successful bid for £287,500 grant plus 
£500,000 from Capital Fund to move to ground source heating. Hi i
18/11/20 General Permitted Development training

Page 13



Sundry other commitments have been 11/1/21 MSTeams training, 15/3/21 Cemetery 
Regulations Task and Finish group review of current regulations. This is a limited run group 
set up to ensure that recent changes and revisions are included in Council documentation 
and advice. I have asked that all information and procedures conform to Disability access 
guidelines under the Equality Act 2010.

The issue of Coastal and waterway defence and erosion mitigation is highly complex 
involving land ownership a labyrinthine bidding process due to lack of funds. The Parish 
Council has been working hard to move forward the issue of Prospect Place. 16/3/21 
Prospect Place Flood Plan Meeting Role of NFDC and EA in relation to Hythe and Dibden 
especially Prospect Place. Steve Cook and Claire Upton-Brown met with Hythe and Dibden 
Officers and myself to advance a meeting with the Environment Agency.

Casework has involved liaising with District Council Officers and other organisations from 
Bus Companies to Arts Providers making for a varied and absorbing year.

Cllr Philip Dowd

Page 14



Cllr Stephanie Osborne – Butts Ash and Dibden Purlieu
District Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

As I promised when elected, 2 years ago, I have listened to the public and made myself available to contact 
regarding various council issues. I have strived to find the right path and information for case studies and to 
most often get a good outcome.   

I was appointed Chair of the Climate Emergency committee in Feb 2020 and that time seems to have 
gone so quickly. We have had several meetings and things are looking very promising. Changes done and 
planned were described by 2 members of the public attending our March meeting as exciting, enthusiastic 
and a committee that gets things done!!!

We as a group are learning fast. As the Covid pandemic struck we drew on our strengths to keep working for 
the people of Hythe and Dibden parish, using remote on line Zoom and Teams meeting tools. To 
communicate we are available by email and phone to address the numerous cases we have all been 
contacted about. People felt the isolation and the fear and we were all aware of this.  

I am a member of The District council, Environmental and Overview Scrutiny committee, they deal with 
many topical issues that affect us all. The planned changes to Waste collections, Parking, Environmental 
problems, Tree strategy and Housing etc. I feel that I take each communication from the public as seriously 
as I would want to be taken myself. I always remember that is why I decided to try for election at the May 
2019.   

My biggest disappointment this year, was being Turned down by the ruling majority party, on the District 
council. The Motion proposed by County Councillor Malcolm Wade was to provide FREE PARKING for 
a 6-month break for all our villages local businesses, ferry and shops. I spoke as a seconder to the motion 
and although our own area’s councillors unanimously supported this idea, the rest did not.   

My Community Funds were used widely this year and I supported, Honey Pot, Hythe Men’s shed (on the 
pier), the School computer project for working at home, the Living with Loss group and 2 lots of provision of 
free School dinners and OAP roast dinners by our Lovely little Café in Dibden Purlieu. I am a supporter of 
the Waterside Skate and Ride park project and was first to donate some of my Community funds.   

I have attended as the appointed councillor for the Cycling groups the LCWIP workshop which is the body 
responsible for planning cycling and walking in the whole area. I have been invited and attended the 
Hampshire Green Travel network group and also the New Forest Zero carbon alliance group where I 
have managed to make good contacts for other projects. I was voted to represent our Parish on the New 
Forest Consultative Panel and that is very interesting in learning how the Forest is coping and being 
managed in this time of big change and lock down.    

I am a member of the Hythe Hospital Stakeholder group. I remember our old hospital with fond memories 
of providing Hospice and older peoples rehabilitation wards, All Maternity care, my children were born there.   
The A&E was also brilliant and much needed for our area. The new long-awaited facility will be an asset to 
our community to receive their health and well being services. 

I held  regular coffee morning at St Andrews church. “Meet your councillors” which was really well attended 
and Melody, myself and Malcolm look forward to resuming that when lock down allows. Public really 
appreciated informal opportunity to discuss topics and issues.

I give my ongoing support and enthusiasm for the Hythe Ferry and the Pier and make personal contribution 
to both of these. I keep in personal touch with the businesses in our villages and so want to see them raise 
back to prosperity again soon. We all want to bring Hythe back alive. I picture better non-motorised transport 
for us all to make choices with safe visible parking for cycles at places like all schools, supermarkets and the 
ferry. The transport hub at the ferry is unique and needs to be enhanced so all modes of transport gel 
together. The ferry bringing “IN” people from Southampton to see our area and enjoy the historic train and 
pier. Our much needed and requested ACSO service is back and working well and I am proud to have been 
part of their reinstatement.

It has genuinely been a great group to be part of and as the Parish chairman has often said “This is the 
best council ever”.

Cllr Stephanie Osborne

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Alex Wade – Hythe West and Langdown 
District Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

The past year…
It has been a year like no other in my lifetime, and my thoughts are with anyone who has been impacted personally by 
the impact of COVID-19. With a year since lockdown first was introduced, it’s important to reflect and remember those 
we have lost, yet also praise the heroes from the NHS to local volunteers who have made such a positive impact and 
supported so many in need during what has been a tough time for so many.
From a councillor perspective it’s been very different, all meetings now virtual for NFDC on Zoom or Teams, with 
almost all Council business being virtual and not in person. Meetings aren’t necessarily shorter or even better for this, 
and while it means they are much more accessible for residents and councillors, especially those isolating or with 
work commitments, I foresee a future where a mix of virtual and in person meetings alongside all being aired on 
YouTube.
Here is a update of some the issues on your behalf I have been dealing with, and major subjects impacting our 
community

Planning 
I attended NFDC Planning and spoke against the proposal for unnecessary advertising on the Churchill’s site in South 
Street, but sadly saw the vote lost by 1 vote. This site has seen many issues raised by neighbouring residents who 
have been unfairly impacted by this development. It is welcome that it will finally be open for residents and limited 
future works. To have all the additional traffic, parking, noise and more of this site while many were having to stay at 
home due to lockdown added to the frustration. I have been in regular contact with NFDC officers over the issues and 
tried to work with them and residents to help mitigate the situation.
I have also written in support of rejecting the development on the site of St Judes alongside Cllr Melody Roberts on 
behalf of the Parish Council, this sadly was also voted through at NFDC planning.
The Local Plan for the whole District has been voted through, the impact on our Parish will be felt by the lack of wider 
infrastructure supporting Marchwood and Fawley housing being proposed. However, the Authorities need additional 
housing without question.
I have also written to the District as part of the Waterside Vision proposals raising my general support for any 
investment in the area, but raised concerns about how this seemed to be for the benefit of a select few organisations 
and major businesses, who may have an interest in developing particular sites within the Waterside. The Vision 
needed more focus on green, sustainable transport and ensuring safe walking, cycling routes and support for the 
Ferry and Train. Furthermore, there needs to a wider focus on culture following the loss of a major theatre venue in 
the Waterside and also skills and jobs of a wider variety to help improve the skills and future of all our community. For 
me, it’s very maritime focused and raises concerns about the future of Dibden Bay. However, it’s still in the early 
stages and it is important to be part of the conversation and arguing for the Waterside.

Housing 
NFDC continues its focus on hitting its target of 600 homes built by the authority by 2026. Personally, I don’t feel this 
is an ambitious target although I welcome that the authority is broadly on track at reaching this figure, at approx 183 
properties as of March 2021. Our Council tenants will see a rise of £78.52 a year despite opposition Cllrs arguing any 
rise should not be passed on to our Residents during such a difficult time. The Authority are working on moving away 
from bed and breakfast accommodations and ensuring there is suitable emergency accommodation to support 
homeless families and residents in the District. Currently 13 properties have been developed in 2021/22, there is a 
target of 40. 
As you will see the houses are finally being moved in to in the next few weeks on Forest Lodge Farm, while we 
welcome families utilising much needed housing, there remains the concerns over the drainage of the site. Elsewhere, 
NFDC will be replacing its Ladycross Road garage site with six affordable homes for rent, this is a welcome use of the 
site. But, the building works and long term impact on the neighbouring properties must be a consideration by NFDC 
and I’m pleased they will work closer with local Cllrs, following issues with other sites. 
I have also written to the Authority with regards to the Hythe Police Station site, which remains empty and without 
planning permission. I have asked the question if this site would be considered for housing by NFDC and will continue 
to argue for this. There are no doubt discussions behind the scenes Cllrs aren’t party to, but for me this site would 
benefit the community if it could be utilised for affordable housing for local families.

Waste Strategy 
NFDC consulted on its Waste Strategy as it looks to respond to the new Government environment bill, that means 
changes have to be made by the Authority, when it comes to managing the waste and recycling produced by the 
District. It’s fair to say NFDC’s recycling record is not good enough, and as a Council we compare poorly with 
neighbouring authorities and most of the country.

Page 17



The consultation saw over 3000 responses, although being actioned during a lockdown meant that those not online or 
with access to our (closed at times) information centres were unable to have their say. That being said there was 
plenty of interest and feedback on social media and on the consultation, with concerns raised over the impact of 
wheelie bins in the District. The view that a one size fits all approach won’t be sufficient was clear, as was a general 
support for the much welcome food waste caddy’s (a national requirement come 2023). However, the proposal for bi 
weekly collection with waste one week, recycling the other was not popular and it was felt that the additional 
investment in the new vehicles would lead to higher council tax, which I understand is likely.
Overall, the authority has to make changes and improve the overall waste management and recycling of materials 
within the District. One challenge is the contract with Veolia means that some items cannot be recycled as you would 
expect. The benefits of wheelie bins on some areas can be argued, while certain roads and communities are ill suited 
so it provides plenty of discussions about next steps, I hope NFDC listens. 
The process will move forwards in 2021 as  NFDC will review all responses received and respond with a further 
document later this year.

Boundary Review
Pending Parliament agreement there will be a new look NFDC after the next set of elections in 2023. The Council will 
reduce to 48 from 60 Cllrs which is a welcome move, and allow for responsibility and voices heard in democratic 
decision making.  This was supported by the Liberal Democrat Opposition and in Hythe and Dibden we will see a net 
loss of 1 Cllr.
Our Parish will have new ward boundaries, with Furzedown, Langdown and Butts Ash forming Hythe South. Hythe 
Central will feature the village centre and Hollybank estate while, Dibden and Dibden Purlieu will be the third ward. All 
will be two Cllr Wards. The original proposal would have seen 2x 3 Cllr Wards, with inconsistent boundaries that 
provided very little clarity for the community or defined boundaries. I and my fellow Hythe and Dibden Cllrs offered 
counter proposals, writing to the Boundary Commission which the commission accepted as part of the final 
recommendations. 

Dibden Golf Working Party
I have sat on the Working Group that monitors MyTime’s management of Dibden Golf Course over the past year. I 
have pushed for better understanding of the issues faced by members and users of the course, after receiving 
negative feedback over the aspects of how the course was being managed. I understand officers will meet with the 
Ladies Captain once lockdown rules allow. Furthermore, I understand there is intention to invest in the Course at 
some stage in the next year although no details at this stage. The Course has been closed for a significant part of the 
year due to Covid and the rent fees paid to the Council have essentially been returned back in the form of grants to 
assist with the income challenges, especially having little opportunity for hosting weddings and events. The Council is 
able to claim some of this fund back from central Government to reduce the financial impact on the Council.

Health and Leisure Service
It’s been confirmed that Freedom Leisure, will take over the operation and management of our five Leisure Centres. 
This means that our centres are now privately managed for the first time in 40 years. It was a decision that has left 
many members and residents unhappy. This decision was taken by the Conservative administration in February after 
a debate at the Community and Leisure Overview and Scrutiny Panel and full Council. I voted against this both on the 
Panel and at Council, where I challenged the timing of the process and the future of the existing services, prices, 
relationships with longstanding clubs, strategic control and accessibility of the Centres for residents of all ages and 
backgrounds. The District Council now needs to focus on improving the physical and mental wellbeing of our 
community, and without the strategic control of the Centres, I have concerns about how in the long term what 
significant impact can be made on this issue. 
It was a financial decision taken too soon in my view and should have allowed for lockdown easing, so we can get a 
proper understanding of how the Leisure industry will react post the pandemic. The Centres were losing significant 
revenue but were provided with government support during lockdown enforced closure.
However, there will be a monitoring group looking at how the partnership proceeds. I would be interested in being on 
this group although I hope there is proper scrutiny on behalf of the centre users and members. I do hope though it is a 
success as despite my reservations, I want the centres to be accessible and a success. There will be investment 
including a return to facilities the centre used to run like soft play, cafes and inflatables in selected centres.

Casework
It has been a busy year for casework, like any Cllr. This year has meant more than ever dealing with issues over the 
phone, email or social media. I have assisted residents on a wide array of issues including, assisting residents with 
flooding concerns, working with the County Cllr on speeding and highways issues, housing, parking, flytipping, 
abandoned  cars and more. As with all issues you work with colleagues, Officers, and other Councils to try and 
resolve an issue. It has been rewarding when you see a positive outcome and it’s important to always be honest, open 
and simply try to resolve a problem. I have not always succeeded and there are some frustrating obstacles, but I will 
always try and keep trying to the best of my abilities for the community.

Page 18



Grant Funding 
In the past 12 months Cllrs were given a larger grant funding budget to help support local community groups. This was 
in response to the impact of the Pandemic on our residents, and the wide array of local organisations, clubs and 
support networks that our communities rely on.
This past year I have provided funds to help Hythe Youth Club’s running costs, preparation for a New Forest Pride 
event, £700 towards laptops to support pupils at Waterside Community School studying at home,  the Handy Trust 
and Waterside Self Isolation Group, who have supported so many local residents during lockdown.

Motions and Questions 
I have asked several questions over the last year to NFDC cabinet members on a wide array of issues, with mixed 
responses. I have asked about Waste consultation, the Leisure Centre privatisation, planning process, Democratic 
engagement, Customer Service support for residents, asset reviews and support for staff.
Furthermore, I proudly seconded the successful motion for the authority to support New Forest Pride, fly the Pride 
flag, and review its public buildings to ensure where possible there are gender neutral toilets. 

Thank you.

I want to say thank you to all the Officers and fellow Cllrs for their support this past year, everything we do is a team 
effort as we try our best to support the communities we represent. This Includes our brilliant Parish Council Team as 
well as the District Officers. Also, the County Cllr Malcolm Wade for his guidance and support on County issues, and 
all my Hythe and Dibden Colleagues on NFDC.
Most of all I want to say thank you to our community, who have been so brilliant supporting each other and standing 
up for our beautiful part of the world. You always do, but this past year everyone has helped make a real difference to 
Hythe and Dibden. I thank you, and also for raising issues with me and holding me and my colleagues to account.
Here is to the next 12 months, I wish you and your Family and Friends all the best.

Cllr Alex Wade

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Malcolm Wade – Butts Ash and Dibden Purlieu
District Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

Covid 19

The district council continued to operate during the pandemic although much of its administration and council 
democratic procedure like most councils took place virtually. The financial effects of the pandemic offset by 
some government support allowed NFDC to be in a relatively reasonable financial position considering the back 
drop of the pandemic, lockdown and funding/income loss.

New Waste Strategy 

There will be significant changes to both the way NFDC collect waste and recycling but also the way HCC 
dispose of it. Whilst a bespoke solutions to collection/storage models in some of the unusual areas of our district 
will prevail all residents will see a dramatic change in how NFDC deals with waste going forward. This whole 
process is still ongoing as NFDC awaits the results of the government national consultation on the national 
aspect of waste management.  I was pleased I ensured Waste minimisation was highlighted as it is the first and 
most important part of the waste hierarchy and there were no initiatives in the New Forest to reduce waste with 
retailers or suppliers. This is an area I hope NFDC will add more focus to.

A326

The impacts of the Fawley Waterside development, Solent Gateway’s development of Marchwood Military Port 
and ABP on Dibden Bay make the future of the A326 and transport in general along the Waterside an important 
topic. It is predicted from the Fawley development alone there will be 13,500 extra vehicle movements a day. 
Improvements to roundabouts and possibly duelling the road north of Dibden roundabout are proposed but 
careful effort to improve public transport, support the Hythe ferry, Waterside rail and better cycling routes are 
key to the multi modal transport strategy NFDC has.

Housing

NFDC produced a private sector housing strategy. Whilst they have worked to produce a rationalised approach 
to private sector renting, it is no substitute for a cohesive social housing strategy, which NFDC has to work 
harder on with its long housing waiting list of local, families. The Greener Housing committee is a project to 
improve energy use in 50 of the most energy inefficient NFDC properties.  It also had a presentation for a more 
efficient and greener maintenance and repair scheduling system for NFDC properties including a greener travel 
plan for repair teams. This showed a real attempt to work on green housing issues.

Economy

NFDC was part of the successful Solent Freeport bid and it is hoped this will bring economic and employment 
benefits to the Waterside part of it could be located near Marchwood.  NFDC has given the Parish council £11k 
as part of £107k monies they were to share amongst all the parishes in the district to offset any covid 
expenditure, not enough to cover our costs but every little helps.

Leisure Centres 

Perhaps the greatest folly of NFDC is the fact they are privatising the running of the Leisure Centres during a 
national pandemic, when the centres are actually closed. How public confidence will result in visits to the 
centres is unknown. How the district council’s greatest contribution to public wellness will continue is again a 
subject of speculation in this situation. They were advised by myself and others to wait until the pandemic was 
over and then review, when there was a better understanding of the post covid world and its requirements but 
they would not listen and the future of the service to many after the pandemic is unclear.

Budget

The District Council needs to raise £13,117,360 through council tax for its own operations in the new financial 
year. Therefore, it has increased its budget by 2.8%, which gives our share of the council tax for a band D 
council tax for the year beginning 1 April 2021 to be £183.36.  Again we see council tax payers paying more for 
less!

Cllr Malcolm Wade

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Alexis McEvoy – South Waterside
County Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

BUDGET
Hampshire County Council has approved a £2.1 billion budget spending on local services for 
2021/22. Plans for the next financial year focus on the county’s ongoing work associated with the 
pandemic, support for vulnerable children and adults, investment in Hampshire’s roads and 
infrastructure to support economic recovery, as well as climate change mitigation.

The annual council tax charge for a Band D property will be £1,350.45 – an increase of £1.23 per 
week, equating to 4.99%, of which 3% is for adults’ social care – a Government request. The budget 
includes £13 million for the maintenance of 5,500 miles of roads and an extra £1.2 million in carbon 
reduction measures across the County Council. HCC’s four-year capital programme of £744 million is 
one of the largest in the country.
https://www.hants.gov.uk/News/25022021HCCbudgetdecisionFeb2021

GRANT BOOST FOR CHILDREN’S FOOD SCHEMES THIS EASTER
Hampshire County Council has awarded grants totalling £384,576 to local organisations that are 
providing free activities and a meal to disadvantaged children during the Easter break (2 April to 16 
April 2021)
The County Council will be seeking applications for the summer holiday (26 July to 1 September 
2021) in the coming months and again, later in the year, for Christmas. Organisations should go to the 
connect4communities.org website for details as well as application forms and guidance.

SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES
Despite the rising demand for school places, yet again, the vast majority of Hampshire pupils will be 
going to one of their preferred secondary schools this autumn. This is due in no small part to the 
continued investment by Hampshire County Council in expanding our schools to keep pace with the 
growth in pupil numbers, which has continued over the past year despite pandemic restrictions.

The County Council received 14,483 on-time applications this year – an increase of 66 applications 
compared to the number received for places in September 2020 (14,417).

The admissions team is now busy processing primary school applications with offers due to go out to 
parents on 16 April 2021.

EXTRA HELP FOR YOUNG PEOPLE IN CRISIS
Hampshire County Council has agreed additional funding to extend support for young
People attending hospital emergency departments (ED) due to mental health or substance misuse 
issues, or involvement in violence, to help improve their health and wellbeing and reduce the risk of 
becoming involved in future violence

Following the success of a pilot project led by youth charity, No Limits, at Southampton General 
Hospital, additional funding from the County Council will enable similar support to be provided at both 
Winchester and Basingstoke hospital emergency departments, for those up to the age of 25.

A326 (SOUTH) JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS
The multi-million pound improvements to the A326 are jointly funded by the Solent Local Enterprise 
Partnership and Fawley Waterside Limited and will improve the network capacity and accessibility, to 
help reduce traffic delays along this busy arterial corridor. Hampshire County Council is leading the 
delivery of the works. The main works are due to commence in the late spring for approximately 18 
months. They will be delivered in two phases, and include eight A326 junctions between Blackfield 
and Dibden as follows:

Phase 1:
•Long Lane / A326 (Holbury Roundabout) - widening of approaches and exit lanes;
•Hardley Roundabout - widening of approaches and exit lanes;
•Dibden Roundabout - widening of approaches and exit lanes and new pedestrian crossing.

Page 23

Agenda Item 6

https://www.hants.gov.uk/News/25022021HCCbudgetdecisionFeb2021


Phase 2:
•Applemore Roundabout (Sizer Way) - widening of approaches and exit lanes;
•Blackfield Road / Church Lane/B3053 - new signalised junction and crossing facilities;
•A326 / Holbury Drove - new southbound right-turn and pedestrian crossing facilities;
•A326 / Southbourne Avenue - new southbound right-turn facility;
•Dibden Purlieu Roundabout - widening of approaches and exit lanes.

Further information about the project can be found on our scheme webpage, via this link:
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/transportschemes/a326southfawleywaterside

For all other enquiries regarding the project please email: major.schemes@hants.gov.uk
with the subject line clearly marked, ‘A326 Fawley (South) Junction Improvements.

Cllr Alexis McEvoy

Page 24



Cllr Malcolm Wade – Dibden and Hythe
County Councillor Annual Report 2020/2021

Covid 19

The pandemic has altered all our lives and significantly affected how councils operate but Hampshire 
County Council has continued to deliver is services wherever possible.  The council supported the 
community during the COVID 19 virus with The HantsHelp4Vulnerable helpline, which made Local 
Response Centre referrals. Adult and Children’s social services continued operating to a high level 
dealing with pandemic and non-pandemic issues. HWRCs were open in a booking in process and 
roads were still maintained. However, the impact of the virus on Council resources and further 
government support concluded that further government funding of £52.4m was required to ensure that 
the Council was financially sustainable in the medium term.

Hythe Quarry

An application came to the regulatory committee for variation 16 on the Forest Lodge Farm Quarry to 
add another 5 items of heavy duty plant to the operation. In support of residents’ concerns about the 
extra potential noise pollution I opposed this application. I had the item deferred by the committee 
until appropriate measures were put in place to record the noise levels effecting local people. When it 
was brought back to the February meeting an updated condition 31, which strengthens the monitoring 
and mitigation for the extra equipment, was passed and the applicants have agreed a monitoring site 
on the west with a suggested monitor screen being be seen in public.

Children’s Services

As we come out of each lockdown the number of referrals for children increases resulting for some in 
child protection requirements. So against a back drop of increasing demand reducing funds the 
service has looked at new and innovative ways of serving the young people, who need its help. 
However, like Adult services you can only do this for so long. If the government does not increase 
funding for these areas there will be an uncertain future for social services in Hampshire.

Motion for Schools’ Streets

School Street schemes offer a proactive solution for school communities to tackle air pollution, poor 
health and road danger reduction. A School Street scheme will encourage a healthier lifestyle and 
active travel to school for families and lead to a better environment for everyone. In addition to 
allowing social distancing during the time of the pandemic by removing the car element and thus 
making more space for safer distanced walking. The motion was supported by the whole council and 
will go forward to see how it can be implemented in next year’s budget

Hythe Library

With help from the Parish council I was able to recruit volunteers, who once lock down is over will help 
keep the library open longer after its hours were cut during the HCC library service reduction. I pay 
tribute to these volunteers whose help can further expand the opening hours post lockdown.

REVENUE BUDGET AND PRECEPT 2021/22

The County Council has increased its budget by 4.99%, of which 3% is specifically for adults’ social 
care, which gives council tax for a band D council tax for the year beginning 1 April 2021 of 
£1,350.45.   Total reserves of more than £643.1m as at 31 March 2020, more than half of which 
(£351.2m) is committed to existing revenue programmes and capital spend. However, a further £80m 
Savings Programme due to government precovid funding reductions has also been put in place to 
deliver full savings by 1 April 2023 because the funding reduction has produced a short fall over two 
years of £40 million per year. The bottom line is that due to cuts in government funding resulting in 
service reductions, the people of Hampshire with council tax rises are now paying more for less!                                                                                 

Cllr Malcolm Wade

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	5 DISTRICT COUNCILLOR REPORTS
	Cllr R Clark - NFDC Report 2021
	Cllr S Delemare - NFDC Report 2021
	Cllr P Dowd - NFDC Report 2021
	Cllr S Osborne - NFDC Report 2021
	Cllr A Wade - NFDC Report 2021
	Cllr M Wade - NFDC Report 2021

	6 COUNTY COUNCILLOR REPORTS
	Cllr M Wade - HCC Report 2021


